**FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
11/2/2020 2:52 PM**

**FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/3/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK**

No. 99071-9

**SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

No. 36508-5-III

**IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III**

CHRIS WILLIAMS,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

CITY OF SPOKANE and AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, INC,

Defendants/Appellants.

RESPONDENT CHRIS WILLIAMS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

**Sarah N. Harmon
POWELL, KUZNETZ & PARKER, P.S.
316 W. Boone, Ste. 380
Rock Pointe Tower
Spokane, WA 99201-2346
(509) 455-4151
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the appellate court erroneously dismissed Williams' class action for declaratory and injunctive relief on grounds of standing, where that issue was never raised before the trial court or factually developed, and genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment. RAP 9.11; CR 56.
- B. Whether the appellate decision conflicts with this Court's decision *Orwick*, closing the courthouse door to class-action relief against municipalities.
- C. Whether the appellate decision conflicts with *Doe v. Fife* in holding that Williams and the potential class must vacate their tickets individually through municipal court, where a decision on the merits does not exist.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-Respondent Chris Williams ("Williams") filed this class action against the City of Spokane ("Spokane") and American Traffic Solutions, Inc. ("ATS") alleging the defendants were in concert and privity in utilizing automated camera equipment to ticket motorists at an unlawfully extended school speed zone. (CP 1-11). Williams brought two claims in equity and prayed for declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as a restitution. *Id.* The premise and crux of his lawsuit was that the City never complied with applicable state laws and regulation to extend the school speed zone in question, specifically that Spokane never conducted the requisite traffic and engineering investigation and never passed a resolution extending the speed zone. *See* RCW 46.61.440; WAC 468-95-330. Within 20 days of filing suit, Spokane and ATS moved to dismiss the action entirely pursuant to CR 56. (CP 52-54). Williams was only allowed to conduct a single and limited deposition of Spokane's City Engineer Robert Turner. With no other discovery taking place whatsoever, the trial court denied summary judgment finding issues of fact existed in this case. (CP 394-97). The

issue of whether Williams had standing to bring his declaratory action was not an issue before the trial court.

B. PROCEDURAL POSTURE ON APPEAL

The Court of Appeals accepted discretionary review of the denial on Summary Judgment. After acceptance of review, Spokane allegedly passed a resolution that extended the school speed zone in question, along with approximately 70 other speed zones. Spokane and ATS attempted to supplement the record with the resolution and argued in its initial briefing that the resolution impacts Williams standing to bring his declaratory action. (App. Req. for Judicial Notice, Aug. 26, 2019). Commissioner Wasson denied the request to supplement the record. (Appx A at 31-36). She held the resolution was improper to supplement on appeal, and ordered the parties to submit amended briefing redacting references to the resolution and related arguments. *Id.* Williams complied with the Commissioners ruling and redacted all responsive arguments to Spokane and ATS's arguments on standing. Spokane and ATS did not fully redact their standing arguments.

After oral argument, the Appellate Court requested supplemental briefing on the issue of standing and whether it can be raised now, for the first time on appeal. (*See* Appx A at 37-71). On June 18, 2020 the Court issued an unpublished decision holding Williams lacked standing for declaratory and injunctive relief. *Id.* at 1-30. Williams moved for reconsideration, and provided a declaration evidencing that he frequently drove through the unlawful speed zone in question. *Id.* at 96-104. Nevertheless, without analysis, the Court denied his motion for reconsideration. *Id.* at 105-07.

The appellate court dismissed Williams' potential class action for declaratory relief and injunction for lack of standing despite that issue never being raised before the trial court, never being developed on the record, and never giving Williams an opportunity to fully and fairly respond. The Court considered the issue of standing in this matter for the first time on review, *and* used it to summarily dismiss this matter in full, despite the existence of genuine issues of material fact.

Judge Fearing explained the conflicting lines of Washington authority underlying this issue:

Washington decisions *conflict* as to whether standing looms as a prerequisite to superior court jurisdiction. Under one line of decisions, absent a party with standing, courts lack jurisdiction to consider a dispute...Other decisions stand for the proposition that plaintiff's lack of standing does not remove subject matter jurisdiction from the superior court...Similar to an *inconsistent line* of Washington authority on the question of whether standing implicates the court's subject matter jurisdiction, Washington courts have ruled *incompatibly* whether a party waives a challenge to the opponent's standing on appeal when failing to assert the defense in the superior court. (Appx. A at 20-21, 23-24).

(citations omitted; emphasis added). Yet the Court held that it *could* consider the new issue of standing for the first time on appeal despite these conflicts and despite the undeveloped record in this case.

The Court justified its decision alleging the parties have "already presented their arguments about standing, and the court asked questions during oral argument, about Williams' standing." *Id.* at 25. Unfortunately, the record is to the contrary. Williams fully redacted his rebuttal argument in compliance with the Commissioner's ruling, and counsel for ATS conceded at oral argument that it

was not contesting Williams' standing to bring his declaratory action. Williams' supplemental briefing also made this fact clear. *Id.* at 39-61.

IV. **WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). First, there is a split in the Courts and Washington decisions conflict as to whether standing is a prerequisite to superior court jurisdiction and whether it can be raised for the first time on review. Second, this decision conflicts with *Orwick* and effectively shuts the door to class actions against municipalities when read in concert with a line of unpublished cases coming from the appellate courts. This decision essentially makes this Court's decision in *Orwick* dead law. Further, this decision ignores the logic and reasoning contained in *Hadley v. Maxwell*, by ordering each ticketed motorist to fully litigate a traffic citation. Third, this decision is in conflict with *Doe v. Fife* because the trial court has not been given the opportunity to determine the merits of the allegations in this case. In *Fife* the superior court had issued a decision on the merits. Finally, this decision implicates substantial public interest as it impacts tens of thousands of motorists in Washington. The decision runs afoul of the policies and purposes underlying CR 56 and RAP 9.12, effectively denying a potential class of litigants their day in court. The class and Williams are also denied an effective remedy for the damages caused by Spokane and ATS. The decision also violates the appearance of fairness doctrine.

This Court should accept review to resolve the many conflicts in Washington appellate decisions discussed in the appellate decision and *infra*. It should hold

that a standing issue turning on fact questions cannot be determined for the first time on appellate review. It should reverse and remand for trial.

A. This Court Should Accept Review and Address Washington Appellate Courts' Conflicting Lines of Authority as to Whether Standing is Prerequisite to Jurisdiction and Can Be Raised For the First Time on Appeal.

As the appellate court noted, many conflicts exist in the Washington law regarding whether a party waives a challenge to standing by failing to assert the defense in the trial court. *See* App. A at 24-26. One line of cases says the issue is waived and should not be considered first on appeal. *State v. Cardenas*, 146 Wn.2d 400, 405, 47 P.3d 127, 57 P.3d 1156 (2002); *Tyler Pipe Industries, Inc. v. Department of Revenue*, 105 Wn.2d 318, 327, 715 P.2d 123 (1986), *vacated*, 483 U.S. 232, 107 S. Ct. 2810, 97 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1987); *Baker v. Teachers Insurance & Annuities Association College Retirement Equity Funds (TIAA-CREF)*, 91 Wn.2d 482, 484, 588 P.2d 1164 (1979); *Ahmad v. Town of Springdale*, 178 Wn. App. 333, 340, 314 P.3d 729 (2013), *review granted and case dismissed*, 180 Wn.2d 1013, 327 P.3d 55 (2014); *Krause v. Catholic Community Services*, 47 Wn. App. 734, 748, 737 P.2d 280 (1987); *see also Bittrick v. Consolidated Improvement Co.*, 51 Wn. 469, 470, 99 P. 303 (1909) (“plaintiff’s right to sue cannot be objected to for the first time on appeal”).

Indeed, *Division Three itself* has recently held that standing could not be raised for the first time on appeal. *In re Estate of Reugh*, 110 Wn. App. 2d 20, 447 P.3d 544 (2019), *rev. denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1018 (2020).

But a conflicting line of cases says that the issue may be first raised on appeal. *Intern’l Assoc. of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146

Wn.2d 207, 212-13 n.3, 45 P.3d 186, 50 P.3d 618 (2002); *Forbes v. Pierce County*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 423, 433 n.1, 427 P.3d 675 (2018); *Jevne v. Pass, L.L.C.*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 561, 565, 416 P.3d 1257 (2018); *In re Estate of Alsup*, 181 Wn. App. at 875(2014); *Roberson v. Perez*, 119 Wn. App. 928, 933, 83 P.3d 1026 (2004), *aff'd*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2005); *Mitchell v. John Doe*, 41 Wn. App. 846, 848, 706 P.2d 1100 (1985).

Yet another line says the appellate court may even raise it *sua sponte*. *In re Recall of West*, 156 Wn.2d 244, 248, 126 P.3d 798 (2006); *Branson v. Port of Seattle*, 152 Wn.2d 862, 875 n.6, 101 P.3d 67 (2004).

The appellate decision itself identifies the conflicting cases. This alone calls on this Court to grant review and clear up the many, many conflicts – including conflicts with unpublished decisions discussed *infra*. This in itself is an important issue that this Court should determine. Thus, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4).

B. The Decision Conflicts With and Effectively Shuts the Door to the Class of Litigants Contemplated in *Orwick v. City of Seattle*.

The Court of Appeals determined that the Superior Court had jurisdiction over all of Williams' claims as he alleged equitable relief from system-wide violations of mandatory statutory requirements by a municipal court pursuant to *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249 (1984). The Court of Appeals then contradicted itself and created a conflict with *Orwick* when it then held that despite this, Williams and the potential class had to vacate each ticket individually and seek a refund in Municipal Court.

The Court correctly noted that in *Orwick* it was the absence of a ticket or judgment that resulted in the dismissal of the matter because claims for relief were moot. If Williams was to individually seek a refund of his ticket and was successful, his claims for declaratory judgment and an injunction would be moot under *Orwick*. It is unclear how or when a plaintiff could bring a class action for system wide violation by a municipality under *Orwick* based on this decision. If the plaintiff is first required to vacate their ticket in municipal court as directed in this decision, then their claim for declaratory and injunctive relief would be moot. If the plaintiff brings a claim for declaratory and injunctive relief while a judgment still exists, then this decision states that the Superior Court can make a determination on the declaratory action, but cannot award effective and complete relief in equity. As a result, the plaintiff would then subsequently have to bring a *second* individual action for in municipal court for a refund. This cannot be what *Orwick* intended when it held that superior courts have broad and comprehensive jurisdiction over claims for equitable relief from alleged system-wide violations. *Id* at 251.

A careful reading of *Orwick* indicates that a ticket or a judgment is actually a *requirement* for a class action for system-wide violation because the absence of a pending or paid ticket (judgment) would result in the matter being moot to those petitioners. In fact, in *Todd v. City of Auburn*, the petitioners either paid or were subject to fines. 2010 WL 774135 *1 (W.D. Wash., March 2, 2010). The matter in *Todd* was not dismissed because of pending fines or paid fines (judgments), but dismissed on other grounds. *Todd* and *Orwick* read together state that in order

for a plaintiff to bring equitable claims against a municipality for system-wide violations, there must be a pending or paid fine. It seems absurd that a Superior Court in Washington cannot award a complete and effective remedy to a class, and require litigants to individually vacate their judgments in Municipal Court after a Superior Court determines there are system-wide violations committed by a municipality.

This decision has effectively shut the door to any class action under *Orwick*: if a plaintiff does not have a pending or paid fine (judgment), the matter is moot; if a plaintiff does have a judgment and alleged system wide violations by a municipality, this decision states the plaintiff *still* must go to municipal court for a “refund.”

This decision adds to a line of unpublished Court of Appeals decisions that have confused and undercut *Orwick*, essentially turning *Orwick* into dead law. It is unclear when reading this decision (Div. III) in concert with *Boone v. City of Seattle*, 4 Wash. App. 2d 1038 (Div. I, July 9, 2018)(unpublished) and *Karl v. City of Bremerton*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1047 (Div. II, February 20, 2019)(unpublished) when a plaintiff can effectively pursue a class action under *Orwick* for system-wide violations by a municipality and what relief is available. It is unclear how a class can effectively hold a municipality accountable through the Courts for system-wide violations. A traffic citation is a nominal fine, consequently, it is likely *only* through class actions that parties issued nominal fines are able to effectively challenge a municipality for system-wide violations. These unpublished decisions, including this one, have effectively cut off access

to the superior courts, and access to equitable remedies for class actions alleging system-wide violations by a municipality from a class of petitioners.

Furthermore, this decision it is in conflict with *Hadley v. Maxwell*, as it requires each ticked motorist to fully litigate the unlawful extension of the school speed zone in the Municipal Court in order to get a refund. As recognized by this Court in *Hadley v. Maxwell*, 144 Wn.2d 306 (2001), litigants are not likely to fully litigate disputes for a traffic fine, as the citation is nominal. *Hadley* was a case regarding estoppel, however, the Court’s reasoning in *Hadley* directly conflicts with the Appellate Court’s reasoning in this matter. This decision requires tens of thousands of motorists to individually take on the responsibility to litigate an unlawful extension of a school speed zone to vacate a \$234.00 fine in Municipal Court, even when system wide violations are alleged. Even the Appellate Court believes this matter involves “difficult questions” to resolve; a plaintiff is not likely to litigate these difficult questions individually in municipal court over \$234.00. *See* Appx. A at 25.

Therefore, this Court should accept review to determine and clarify when a class can bring an action against a municipality for system-wide violations and what remedies are available to the class in Superior Court. As the case law stands, there is no clear avenue for a cause of action of this nature as contemplated by *Orwick*.

C. This Decision Directly Conflicts with and Misapplies *Doe v. Fife Municipal Court*.

This decision relied heavily on *Doe v. Fife Municipal Court*, 74 Wn. App. 444 (1994), to hold dismissal was appropriate on summary judgment because the

Doe Court held that the petitioners needed to appeal their fines or vacate them as provided in the Criminal Rules for Courts of Limited Jurisdictions. The *Doe* case is factually distinct from *Williams*, and reliance on *Doe* not only conflicts with *Doe* itself, but also misapplies the case. Unlike *Williams*, in *Doe* the claims for relief had already been adjudicated on the merits by the Superior Court. There was no dispute that the *Does*' claims had merit and portions of the orders imposing fines and costs were void as that issue had already been adjudicated and determined by the Superior Court *prior to* the *Does* filing suit. *Id.*

The *Does*', like *Williams*, argued that the Courts of Limited Jurisdiction offer inadequate and ineffective relief for large numbers of people. The *Doe* court held that despite district and municipal courts not having jurisdiction to hear class action suits, it determined there was no barrier to the *Does* or a party similarly situated to obtaining effective relief from a Court of Limited Jurisdiction, even in the absence of a class action suit. But unlike *Williams*, each petitioner in *Doe*, and every potential class member there, could file a motion to vacate when seeking a refund and simply cite as binding authority that the Superior Court had already decided the merits and determined the fines were unlawful. No such determination has occurred in *Williams* and without a determination on the merits by a Superior Court, *Doe* is inapplicable. In *Doe*, all that was required of the Court of Limited Jurisdiction was to defer to the factual and legal determinations *already made* by the Superior Court and order a refund for the unlawfully imposed fines. "Indeed, the procedure each of the *Does* would have to follow to obtain relief is quite simple." *Id.* at 455. The effect of this decision by

the Court in Williams is to ask every potential class member to go argue the merits in Municipal Court of what would essentially be class claims. This Court has already acknowledged that class claims are not available to a litigant in Municipal Court.

In Williams, it is disputed whether the school speed zone was lawfully extended, and whether the tickets issued by the City and ATS were lawful. Every single individual motorist ticketed in the Longfellow school zone would need to present evidence and expert testimony at a hearing and argue the City failed to comply with RCW 46.61.440 and WAC 468-95-330 in 2008 when it unlawfully extended to school speed zone by installing the new flashing school speed zone sign. Each motorist would need to present evidence of the location of each piece of City and ATS equipment and have admissible evidence of measurements as well as information as to where the City and ATS are measuring motorists' speeds in relation to the designated crosswalk. Each case would have to provide evidence of the nature and method the ATS equipment was set up and operates. Every single individual motorist would be required to argue the nuances in the standards and requirements that distinguish engineering judgment, engineering studies, and traffic and engineering investigations. All issues that have been raised in this case.

To prevail and carry their burden, every individual motorist would need to retain an attorney and an expert in order to receive a refund for a \$234.00 ticket. Indeed, the procedure each motorist would have to follow to obtain relief is complicated, expensive, inadequate and ineffective under the circumstances. *See*

Hadley v. Maxwell, 144 Wn.2d 306 (2001)(recognizing the incentive to litigate a traffic infraction is low).

Secondly, there is absolutely no evidence in the record that would allow this Court to make the same determination whether the lower courts would not be overburdened with litigants. The record has only two references to the potential class size in this case: 1) Williams alleged in his complaint that 500+ motorists were similarly situated and ticketed by the City and ATS at the school speed zone on Nevada at Longfellow Elementary (CP 1-11); and 2) in Williams' Appellate Response Brief, he cites to a Spokesman Review article that states the City and ATS have issued tickets to over 16,000 motorists for speeding in the Longfellow school speed zone in question and netted over \$4 million in fines (Resp. Amended Brief, pg. 7, FN 1, Nov. 4, 2019). The City and ATS have neither contested nor controverted the class allegation or potential size in the tens of thousands for this class.

Despite not addressing the class size or status, this Court determined that Spokane's Municipal Court could handle the number of litigants that have been unlawfully ticketed without ever assessing the number of litigants. In *Doe* the potential class was much smaller. The only members of the potential class in *Doe* would have been criminal defendants in Pierce County who paid costs associated with the deferred prosecution program as assessed under RCW 10.05. Here, the class is alleged to be much larger, and taking all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Williams, the non-moving party, there are potentially *at least* 16,000 class members.

The Court of Appeals held that an adequate remedy for an alleged system wide violation is for 16,000 individual motorists is to bring individual motions to vacate and put on a full fledged evidentiary hearing on the merits of this lawsuit in order to obtain a refund on a \$234 ticket. On summary judgment, the Court of Appeals should not have determined as a matter of law that the lower courts can provide adequate and effective relief in this case. Rather, the limited record supports a reasonable inference that the lower courts cannot provide adequate and effective relief to the class of litigants in question.

This decision conflicts with *Doe* and its reasoning. The misapplication of *Doe* could result in *Doe* being misapplied moving forward as authority to summarily dismiss potential class actions and limit remedies for future litigants. Therefore, review should be granted by this Court to resolve the conflict and misapplication of *Doe*.

D. The Decision Involves Several Issues of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined and Clarified by the Supreme Court.

This matter has substantial public interest for several reasons. First, over sixteen thousand motorists have been ticketed at this location. It literally impacts a large class of individuals, not just a single plaintiff. Second, whether a municipality is following and complying with state law and regulations prior to fining individuals constitutes a matter of substantial public interest. There must be an effective procedure for a class to challenge fines being unlawfully issued by a municipality. Third, the funds from the unlawful fines are being used to re-fund the city police, and employ additional officers in the area.

This matter also has substantial public interest because the decision conflicts with longstanding principles and policies relating to access to the courts and the appearance of fairness doctrine. This decision stands for the proposition that an issue which was not raised at the trial court, nor developed through discovery or litigation can be considered and be dispositive to a full dismissal on summary judgment. This decision runs afoul to CR 56, and the underling purpose and policy of summary judgment. Further, it conflicts with RAP 9.12. Despite Williams arguing the application of RAP 9.12 in his supplemental briefing (Appx A at 39-61), the Court did not even analyze RAP 9.12 when addressing the issue of standing for the first time on appeal on an order on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals decision takes the position that facts can be assumed *against* the non-moving party on summary judgment on an issue that was never before the trial court. This decision is contrary CR 56 and RAP 9.12, and violates longstanding, undisputed case law.

This decision also gives permission to appellate courts to ignore appellate commissioner's rulings that become the law of the case. Somehow, despite a clear and unambiguous order by Commissioner Wasson denying supplementation of the resolution on review, the Court still considered, referenced, and relied on the resolution to make its determination. This conflicts with longstanding case law on the appearance of fairness. Williams completely and fully removed his arguments in response to Spokane and ATS's arguments relating to the resolution. The Appellate Court ignored the Commissioner's

ruling by considering the resolution, and summarily dismissing the case based upon standing.

For these several reasons, this decision implicates substantial public interest and should be accepted for review.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review to resolve the many conflicts in Washington appellate decisions discussed in the appellate decision and *supra*. It should resolve the conflict and hold that standing issues cannot be determined for the first time on appellate review that turns on a factual questions or when the record is underdeveloped.

This Court should accept review to resolve the conflict this decision, and a line of unpublished decisions have created with *Orwick*. It should resolve the conflict and clarify that a class can bring an action against a municipality for system wide violations in Superior Court and that remedies in equity are available to the class as contemplated by this Court in *Orwick*.

This Court should accept review to resolve the conflict this decision creates with *Doe v. Fife*, and reverse the Court of Appeal's assumption on summary judgment that the class has adequate remedies in the lower courts.

This Court should accept review and address this decision as it impacts tens of thousands of motorists in the class, and involves several issues of substantial public interest.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4), this Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision and remand to the trial court.