FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/4/2020 1:13 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court Case No. 99071-9 Court of Appeals Case No. 36508-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRIS WILLIAMS,

Respondent,

v.

CITY OF SPOKANE and AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, INC.,

Appellants.

APPELLANTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Review Is Unwarranted.

This Court accepts review of a decision of the Court of Appeals only under the limited circumstances delineated in RAP 13.4(b). Review is appropriate if a Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another Court of Appeals, if "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved," or if "the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). None of those circumstances are presented here.

As an initial matter, the Opinion does not conflict with any precedent of the Supreme Court or another Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). To the contrary, the Opinion is directly in line with long-standing Washington case law, as the Court of Appeals specifically noted in the Opinion. Opinion, p. 6. And finally, the Opinion does not involve an issue of "substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court." Recall, this case involves one plaintiff, Williams, one ticket for speeding in one school zone, and a \$234 fine paid. This type of case does not merit the attention of this Court.

1. Washington Courts Agree that Appellate Courts Have Discretion to Consider an Issue Raised for the First Time on Appeal.

Williams claims that there is a split in authority regarding whether the appellate courts can consider standing for the first time on appeal. This is simply not the case. The law is clear, per RAP 2.5(a), that "the appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." This rule provides the appellate court with *discretion* to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. Since courts are afforded discretion in this regard, decisions will naturally vary depending on the nature of the case – a court may or may not choose to allow consideration of new issues or arguments on appeal.

Here, the Court of Appeals pointed to cases where courts have decided not to consider standing raised for the first time on appeal, but clearly acknowledged this was based on an exercise of *discretion*: "Presumably this line of authority would still permit the appellate court, at its discretion, to review the defense of standing asserted for the first time on appeal." Opinion, p. 24. The Court of Appeals then referenced numerous cases where appellate courts did allow consideration of standing raised for the first time on appeal. Opinion, p. 23. There is no conflict of law here, merely examples of different courts exercising discretion in different cases.

In this case, the Court of Appeals considered the fact that the parties had a full and fair opportunity to address their arguments on standing and the fact that judicial economy would be served by considering standing now, rather than during an inevitable later appeal of this case. Based on these factors, the court exercised its discretion per RAP 2.5(a) and chose to consider standing on appeal.

Washington law is also clear that appellate courts can and do address standing *sua sponte*. *See Jevne v. Pass LLC*, 3 Wn. App.2d 561, 565, 416 P.3d 1257 (2018) (citing *In re Recall of West*, 156 Wn.2d 244, 248, 126 P.3d 798 (2006); *Branson v. Port of Seattle*, 152 Wn.2d 862, 875 n.6, 101 P.3d 67 (2004)). Thus, the Court of Appeals acted consistent

with Washington law when addressing standing for the first time on appeal in this case.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with *Orwick v. City of Seattle*.

Williams erroneously claims that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Orwick v. Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 692 P.2d 793 (1984). When in fact, *Orwick* involves a different procedural posture and is not germane. In *Orwick*, three individuals received traffic citations for speeding, but the citations were dismissed before the plaintiffs had a chance to contest them. No judgment was ever entered against the individuals in the municipal court and no fine was paid. This case is different. Here, Williams chose to pay the fine associated with his speeding ticket. Judgment was then entered against Williams by the municipal court. Williams has available to him a remedy that the *Orwick* plaintiffs did not, namely a motion to vacate the judgment to seek refund of the fine paid. As such, *Orwick* has no import on the question of available remedies for seeking a refund for a speeding infraction fine paid after judgment was entered by the municipal court.

Williams claims that it is unfair and inconsistent with *Orwick* to require a ticketed motorist to first file a motion to vacate before the municipal court before it can go to the superior court seeking a refund of

the fine. Williams claims that if the municipal court grants the motion to vacate and refunds the fine, then the motorist would be precluded from bringing the case in equity to the superior court regarding the same traffic violation. This argument fails for two reasons. First, Williams' argument does not make practical sense. If the hypothetical motorist prevails and the municipal court agrees that there was no speeding infraction, then what would be the motorist's remaining complaint? Second, and most importantly, the Court of Appeals did not hold that this procedural limitation would bar Williams from bringing an equitable claim to the superior court. Opinion, p. 15 ("This argument would not, however, preclude Williams from pursuing his equitable relief.").

Williams further asserts that this case involves one of "system-wide violations," again attempting to improperly inflate the scope of this case. This argument is without basis. This case involves one plaintiff, Williams, one ticket for speeding in one school zone, and one fine of \$234. There are no "system-wide violations" presented in evidence in this case.

The Court of Appeals properly ruled that Williams must follow the procedures for vacating a judgment found in chapter 46.63 RCW, IRLJ 6.7(a) and CRLJ 60(b). This ruling is entirely consistent with settled Washington case law, including *Orwick*.

3. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Conflict with Doe v. Fife Municipal Court.

The Court of Appeals held that Williams is barred from bringing a request for a refund for his speeding ticket to the superior court, without first filing a motion to vacate the judgment entered against him by the municipal court. In reaching this conclusion, the court relied on *Doe v*. *Fife Municipal Court*, 74 Wn. App. 444, 184 P.2d 182 (1994). The Court of Appeals found *Doe* controlling, yet, Williams claims the Court of Appeals' Opinion *conflicts* with *Doe*. This argument fails, as the facts and procedural posture in this case perfectly track *Doe*.

In *Doe*, court costs were imposed on a group of anonymous plaintiffs by courts of limited jurisdiction in Pierce County as a condition of deferred prosecution in connection with alcohol-related traffic offenses. The drivers had paid the costs, and then brought suit in superior court claiming the costs were illegal because there was no statutory authority to impose them. The superior court dismissed the refund claims, ruling that the plaintiffs were barred from recovery because they did not first appeal the orders to the limited courts or move for relief from judgment under the appropriate rule. 74 Wn. App. at 448. On appeal, the Court of Appeals agreed that the costs could not be recovered through a superior court

lawsuit because plaintiffs must first bring a motion to vacate before the court that entered the underlying judgment.

Williams attempts to differentiate *Doe*, and even claims that this case is inconsistent with *Doe*. Williams argues that application of *Doe* is somehow unfair here because it would require a ticketed motorist to first challenge the ticket before the municipal court. While Williams views this as unfair, this is precisely the objective of this rule, and for good reason. As the Court of Appeals explained: "Judicial resources are employed more efficiently if the party who asserts a judgment as being void is first required to address its concerns to the court that issued the judgment. If the litigant is dissatisfied with the municipal court's refusal to vacate a judgment, the litigant may then appeal to the superior court." Opinion, p. 17.

The Court of Appeals ruling is entirely consistent with *Doe* and does not unfairly strip Williams of judicial relief, but Williams must follow the applicable procedural requirements to avail himself of such remedies.

4. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Involve Matters of Substantial Public Interest.

Williams final contention is that this lawsuit involves matters of substantial public interest. This Court will accept a petition for review if

the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). A substantial public interest exists, for example, where the Court of Appeals' holding below will affect numerous other individuals. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (noting case before it "presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" because "Court of Appeals holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue.").

Here, there is no substantial public interest apparent in Williams' request that this Court revisit an unpublished opinion applying settled law on the procedural requirements for appealing a traffic violation and on standing. The Court of Appeals' ruling will not affect other litigants as the Opinion cannot be cited for precedent and, in any event, the Opinion would only be relevant to litigants who have arguably failed to satisfy applicable procedural requirements and lack standing to file an action, and ample binding authority on both issues already exists.

While Williams may have substantial interest in obtaining a refund of his traffic ticket, and potentially generating damages for the yet-to-be certified class of plaintiffs, he has failed to show any substantial *public* interest in this issue. There is no public interest implicated in Williams'

request for review of the Court of Appeals' application of standing, which involved application of settled law to the specific facts in this case.

In sum, the issues presented by Williams for this Court's review involve routine application of well-established law by the Court of Appeals, not novel issues of widespread public importance that should be determined by this Court.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Spokane and ATS respectfully request that this Court deny Williams' Petition for Review.